Board of Registration in Dentistry

General Session Agenda & Minutes

February 4, 2026    
(Approved by the Board on March 4, 2026)


COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
NOTICE OF THE REGULARLY SCHEDULED MEETING OF THE

BOARD OF REGISTRATION IN DENTISTRY
February 4, 2026
Via WebEx from 250 Washington Street
Boston, Massachusetts 02108
AGENDA 

If you need reasonable accommodations in order to participate in the meeting, contact the DPH ADA Coordinator Ms. Stacy Hart by email at Stacy.Hart@mass.gov or by phone at 857-274-1120, in advance of the meeting. While the Board will do its best to accommodate you, certain accommodations may require distinctive requests or the hiring of outside contractors and may not be available if requested immediately before the meeting.  Only the General Session is open to the public and may be viewed and/or heard via WebEx.

WebEx Information: Please send an email to Executive Director Barbara A. Young, RDH at barbara.a.young@mass.gov at least 24 hours before the meeting to request an email invitation to attend this meeting by video conference. The invitation will contain a direct link to the meeting.

You may also obtain video and audio access to all sessions of the meeting open to the 
public through the following link: 

https://eohhs.webex.com/eohhs/j.php?MTID=m6fe4b0788f1fff533026a4bd8f04020b
Call-in number for audio-only attendance: 1- (617) 315-0704 (toll) or 1-(650) 479-3208 (toll) only if you have no access to video conference.
Access Code:  2534 252 8170
Attendee ID:   #              Password:    BORID2025
	8:30 a.m.
	
	CALL TO ORDER, DETERMINATION OF QUORUM, AND  

APPROVAL OF AGENDA

	
	

	8:32 a.m.
	I
	GENERAL SESSION

ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS:

1. Update on ADEX Exams - Dr. Mina Paul
2. Update on Yankee Dental Congress 2026
3. Consideration of Minutes from the BORID meeting on:
a.  January 7, 2026

       4.   Update on Proposed Amendments to 234 CMR

       5.   Report on Applications for Retired License Status

       6.   Consideration of an Application to Reactivate an Expired Individual 

             Permit B:   In Re:  Dr. Hassan Moeinzad, DN21224

       7.   Consideration of an Application to Reactivate an Expired Individual

             Permit C:   In Re:  Dr. Ejaz Ali, DN18473

       8.   Consideration of an Application to Reactivate an Expired Individual

             Permit C:   In Re:  Dr. Femina E. Ali, DN19337  

       9.   Monthly Probation Report
       10. Flex session

	
	Executive Director Barbara A. Young, RDH

Board Counsel

Michael Egan, Esq.

Probation Dept. Coordinator 

K. Fishman

	
	II
	COMPLAINT RESOLUTION: PENDING BOARD MATTERS

1.
DEN-2025-0072:     Dr. Sidney A. Raiski


	
	Dental Investigator:

J. Bueno

	10:30 a.m.
	III
	EXECUTIVE SESSION  (closed to the public)

	
	Executive Director

Barbara A.

Young, RDH



	11:00 a.m.
	IV
	MGL c. 112, s. 65C SESSION   (closed to the public)


	 
	Executive Director

Barbara A.

Young, RDH

	3:30 p.m.
	
	ADJOURNMENT
	
	


MASSACHUSETTS BOARD OF REGISTRATION IN DENTISTRY

250 Washington Street, Boston, MA  02108
GENERAL SESSION MINUTES 

 February 4, 2026
Present:  Dr. Michael Scialabba, Board Chair; Dr. Thomas Trowbridge, Board Secretary; 
Dr. Richard T. Miller; Dr. Sabina Malla; Dr. Kasra Rafia; Ms. Stacy Haluch, RDH; 

Ms. Jacyn Stultz, MS, RDH; Ms. Ailish Wilkie, MS, CPHRM, CPPS, CPHQ; 
Ms. Jennifer McKeon, M.Ed., RDH, CDA
Absent:   Dr. Seema Jacob
Board Staff Present: Barbara A. Young, RDH, Executive Director; Kyle Rippstein, Associate Executive Director; Chief Board Counsel Heather Engman, Esq.; Board Counsel Michael Egan, Esq.; Dr. Liliana DiFabio, Supervisor of Investigations; OPP Investigators Kathleen O’Connell, Jaris Bueno, Eileen Mulligan, Rhonda Heard, Melissa Hebert and Deborah El-Majdoubi.
	Motion:
	At 8:34 a.m., to adopt the proposed agenda for today’s meeting


	Motion Made By:
	Dr. Richard T. Miller

	Second:
Vote:
	Ms. Stacy Haluch
In Favor: Dr. Michael Scialabba, Dr. Thomas Trowbridge,

Dr. Richard T. Miller, Dr. Kasra Rafia, Dr. Sabina Malla, 
Ms. Jacyn Stultz, Ms. Jennifer McKeon, Ms. Stacy Haluch
Opposed: None
Abstain: None



Administrative Matters:
1.
ADEX Exam Update  – Executive Director Barbara A. Young, RDH
Dr. Mina Paul, the Board's appointed representative to ADEX, was present and answered all questions from the Board members as appropriate.
Mr. Stephen Prisby on behalf of ADEX also addressed the Board.  

Dr. Paul informed the Board her appointment to the ADEX committee has come to an end and it is time for the Board to select her replacement as she is no longer eligible to serve on the committee.  Dr. Paul also noted the Board needs to appoint a dental hygienist to the ADEX committee as that position has been open for quite some time.  

As to the ADEX exams, Dr. Paul noted the periodontal portion of the dental exam has been upgraded and will be required by ADEX beginning this summer.  She also noted that approx. 10% of dental exam candidates are foreign trained dentists and that 1419 graduates of non-CODA accredited dental hygiene schools took the dental hygiene exam but only 78% passed.  Dr. Paul opined the majority of these candidates were likely foreign trained dentists.  


Dr. Paul noted that the manikin-based exam is now used across the country and candidates rarely have the option of taking a patient-based exam; Mr. Prisby agreed noting every state offers the manikin-based exam.  Also, Dr. Paul noted the periodontal exam for dentists will now include calculus detection and pocket depth assessment.  Dr. Scialabba asked if there has been an increase in the passing rate over the last five years; Mr. Prisby replied there has been a slight decrease in the passing rate but that has levelled off and the passing rates are basically the same now.  


Dr. Trowbridge asked if there is any remediation offered to those candidates who fail to pass the dental hygiene exam; Mr. Prisby replied there is a notable increase in the passing rate after the candidate remediates their exam issues through their respective schools.  Dr. Trowbridge asked if ADEX prescribes the remediation; Mr. Prisby replied it does not but is up to the schools to offer remediation.  Ms. Young asked if there is any affiliation between ADEX and non-CODA accredited schools; Mr. Prisby replied there is not noting ADEX is an independent assessment agency that is not affiliated with any school.  Mr. Prisby noted remediation can be prescribed by the Board but indicated if a candidate fails the exam three times, then the candidate must wait 18 mos. before retaking the exam.  Ms. Stultz asked about the costs of taking an ADEX exam; Mr. Prisby replied the cost is approx. $2000 for dental candidates and $800-1000 for dental hygiene candidates.


Dr. Scialabba asked about the time commitment for anyone interested in being appointed to the ADEX committees; Mr. Prisby replied the appointees are required to attend one in-person meeting each year in October and four online meetings.

 2.
Yankee Dental Congress 2026 Update – Executive Director Barbara A. Young, RDH


Ms. Young noted the two courses offered by the Board were well received and well attended.  Dr. Scialabba agreed and noted they received some strange questions from the audience such as is it appropriate for a dental assistant to use a high-speed handpiece.  Ms. Young stated it appeared as if some attendees had never reviewed the Board's regulations given the nature of their questions.
	
	


3.
Review of the General Session Minutes from the BORID Meeting on January 7, 2026  – Executive Director Barbara A. Young, RDH


Ms. Young informed the Board she had not finished drafting the minutes from this meeting but plans on submitting those minutes to the Board for its consideration during its March 4th meeting.
4.
Update on Proposed Amendments to 234 CMR - Executive Director Barbara A. Young, RDH


Atty. Egan advised the Board the legal work on the proposed amendments has been completed and the documents are being forwarded for approval to promulgate.  Ms. Stultz asked about a time line; Dr. Trowbridge agreed and asked how many more levels of review/approval must be completed.  Atty. Egan replied once approved by the DPH commissioner, the proposed amendments will be submitted to the governor's office for review and approval.

	
	

	
	


5.
Report on Applications for Retired License Status - Executive Director Barbara A. Young, RDH

The Board members did not have any questions regarding the report but Ms. Stultz noted there was a lot of confusion among attendees at the Yankee Dental Congress as to retiring from active practice vs. retiring a license.  Ms. Stultz suggested the Mass. Dental Society (MDS) post an announcement on its website stating what licensees must do to have their licenses placed on retired status.  Dr. Trowbridge agreed and indicated he will reach out to the MDS.  
6.
Request for Consideration of an Application to Reactivate an Expired Individual Permit B - Executive Director Barbara A. Young, RDH

In Re:  Dr. Hassan Moeinzad, DN21224

The licensee was present for the discussion and vote of the Board on this matter and answered all questions as appropriate.  

Dr. Trowbridge asked Dr. Moeinzad what his intent was in seeking to reactivate an individual permit that expired nearly 10 yrs. ago.  Dr. Moeinzad replied he is a pediatric dentist and did not renew his permit because he was residing and practicing in Saudi Arabia for several years and recently returned to the US.  Dr. Moeinzad indicated his plan is to only administer nitrous oxide oxygen to his pediatric patients.  Dr. Trowbridge asked Dr. Moeinzad if he administered nitrous oxide oxygen in Saudi Arabia; Dr. Moeinzad replied he did and in Michigan as well.  Ms. Stultz asked the licensee if he has administered nitrous since his return to the US; the licensee replied he has not.  

Dr. Miller asked if the Board had any precedent applicable to this situation; Ms. Young replied none to her knowledge.  Dr. Trowbridge asked the licensee if he will administer nitrous at a dental practice that has been issued a facility permit; Dr. Moeinzad replied he will but noted he had not done so yet as he does not hold a current individual permit.  Ms. Young asked the licensee when he completed his training; Dr. Moeinzad replied he graduated from a pediatric program in 2008.
	Motion:
	To deny the licensee's application to reactivate his expired Individual Permit B upon the licensee's application for an Individual Permit C


	Motion Made By:
	Dr. Richard T. Miller

	Second:
	Dr. Kasra Rafia      

	Vote:


	In Favor: Dr. Michael Scialabba, Dr. Thomas Trowbridge,

Dr. Richard T. Miller, Dr. Kasra Rafia, Dr. Sabina Malla, 

Ms. Jacyn Stultz, Ms. Jennifer McKeon, Ms. Stacy Haluch

Opposed: None
Abstain: None


Ms. Ailish Wilkie joined the meeting at 9:30 a.m.
Dr. Richard T. Miller left the meeting at 9:46 a.m.

7.
Request for Consideration of two Applications to Reactivate Expired Individual Permit C's - Executive Director Barbara A. Young, RDH

In Re:  Dr. Ejaz Ali, DN18473
In Re:  Dr. Femina Ali, DN19337

Dr. Michael Scialabba recused himself from the discussion and votes of the Board on these matters.

Dr. Ejaz Ali and Dr. Femina Ali were present for the discussion and votes of the Board on these matters and answered all questions as appropriate.


Dr. Trowbridge asked both licensees if they were only administering nitrous oxide oxygen; both licensees responded they were.  Ms. Young noted it is not possible to downgrade an Individual Permit B to an Individual Permit C.  Dr. Trowbridge asked both licensees what happened when their Individual Permit C's expired; both licensees replied they submitted applications to upgrade their permits to Individual Permit B's.  Ms. Young noted she only became aware in the last few days that both licensees hold current Individual Permit B's.


Ms. Young asked both licensees if their ACLS certifications are current; both licensees replied they are.  Dr. Trowbridge asked both licensees if they were pediatric dentists; both licensees replied they practice general dentistry.  Dr. Trowbridge noted the Board cannot restrict the scope of practice pursuant to a current Individual Permit B.  Ms. Young explained the licensees have two options: to reactivate their expired Individual Permit C's but both will be required to provide proof they have completed acceptable training on administering nitrous oxide oxygen OR continue with their current Individual Permit B's as long as they continue to comply with the requirements for holding such a permit.  Both licensees opted to continue maintaining their Individual Permit B's.  
	Motion:
	To deny the licensees' applications to reactivate their expired Individual Permit C's


	Motion Made By:
	Dr. Kasra Rafia

	Second:
	Ms. Stacy Haluch      

	Vote:


	In Favor: Dr. Thomas Trowbridge, Ms. Ailish Wilkie, 

Dr. Kasra Rafia, Dr. Sabina Malla, Ms. Jacyn Stultz, 
Ms. Jennifer McKeon, Ms. Stacy Haluch

Opposed: None
Abstain: None


8.
Monthly Probation Report – Probation Dept. Coordinator Karen Fishman


Ms. Young submitted Ms. Fishman's report to the Board; the Board members had no questions for Ms. Young.
Flex Session:
1.
Ms. Stultz asked about pending applications for PDO (portable dental operation) and MDF (mobile dental facility) permits.  Ms. Young replied there are no pending applications that have been submitted by dental hygienists but four applications from dentists are pending.  Ms. Stultz asked how old were these applications; Ms. Young replied the applications were submitted in 2024 and 2025.  Ms. Stultz asked if an update on these pending applications could be added to the Board's agenda for its March 4th meeting.  
2.
Ms. Stultz and Dr. Trowbridge asked about the surveys attached to the licensure renewal process noting some dentists were unhappy with the questions.  Ms. Stultz asked if the survey was mandatory; Ms. Young replied the survey is mandatory but noted licensees are given the option to not answer individual questions.  Dr. Scialabba noted the survey is not within the Board's jurisdiction; Ms. Young agreed noting the data collected by the surveys is not provided to the Board.  
 Complaint Resolution – Investigator Jaris Bueno
--In the Matter of DEN-2025-0072: Dr. Sidney Adam Raiski
The licensee was not present for the discussion and vote of the Board on this matter.

	Allegation(s):
	Violation of BORID policy on use of Botox and derma fillers


	Materials Reviewed:
	Investigative report with attachments

	Discussion:
	Ms. Bueno informed the Board this complaint was referred to the Board by the Mass. Board of Registration in Medicine (BORIM).  Ms. Bueno noted an individual was being treated at a spa in Woburn, MA and suffered complications that required the individual to be transported to a local hospital.  During the investigation of the incident, it was discovered the licensee was administering Botox at this spa beyond the Board's policy on the administration of Botox in that the licensee's administration of this product was not part of any patient's comprehensive dental treatment plan.  
Ms. Bueno noted the spa opened in March 2025 and the licensee's website indicates the licensee was administering Botox as an esthetic procedure not connected to any dental treatment plan.  However, Ms. Bueno noted the licensee's attorney claims the photos posted on the licensee's website do not reflect the licensee's actual practice but rather show the use of models for advertising purposes.  Further, Ms. Bueno noted the licensee's attorney also claims the licensee only administers Botox at his dental practice to treat masseter muscle issues.  



	Motion:
	To refer the matter to the Office of Prosecution for the Issuance of an Order to Show Cause with authorization to resolve the matter with a Consent Agreement for a Reprimand.

	
	

	Motion Made By:
Second:

Vote:
	Dr. Thomas Trowbridge

Dr. Michael Scialabba

In Favor: Dr. Micheal Scialabba, Dr. Thomas Trowbridge,
Dr. Kasra Rafia, Dr. Sabina Malla, Ms. Stacy Haluch, 

Ms. Jennifer McKeon, Ms. Ailish Wilkie

Opposed: None
Abstain: Ms. Jacyn Stultz




	Motion:
	At 10:28 a.m. to enter a closed Executive Session



	Motion Made By:
	Dr. Kasra Rafia 


Second:

   Ms. Ailish Wilkie 

Vote:


   In Favor: Dr. Micheal Scialabba, Dr. Thomas Trowbridge,




   Dr. Kasra Rafia, Dr. Sabina Malla, Ms. Stacy Haluch, 




   Ms. Jennifer McKeon, Ms. Ailish Wilkie, Ms. Jacyn Stultz




   Opposed: None



   Abstain:  None

The Board took its morning recess at 10:29 a.m. and resumed its meeting at 10:49 a.m.
	Motion:
	At 11:46 a.m. to enter a closed MGL c. 12,  §65C Session



	Motion Made By:
	Ms. Ailish Wilkie 


Second:

   Dr. Kasra Rafia 

Vote:


   In Favor: Dr. Micheal Scialabba, Dr. Thomas Trowbridge,




   Dr. Kasra Rafia, Dr. Sabina Malla, Ms. Jennifer McKeon, 




   Ms. Ailish Wilkie, Ms. Jacyn Stultz




   Opposed: None



   Abstain:  None



   (Ms. Stacy Haluch was unavailable for the vote of the Board.)

The Board recessed for lunch at 12:35 p.m. and resumed its meeting at 1:18 p.m.

Motion:

   At 2:31 p.m. to adjourn the meeting
Motion Made By:
   Dr. Kasra Rafia
Second:

   Dr. Michael Scialabba 
Vote:


   In Favor: Dr. Micheal Scialabba, Dr. Thomas Trowbridge,




   Dr. Kasra Rafia, Dr. Sabina Malla, Ms. Jennifer McKeon, 




   Ms. Ailish Wilkie, Ms. Jacyn Stultz, Ms. Stacy Haluch




   Opposed: None



   Abstain:  None

Respectfully submitted,

Barbara A. Young, RDH, JD
Executive Director

DATED:   February 11, 2026
2

